2001

Jerry Dugger, dba J and D Enterprises v. Paul J. Cox,
Cox Corporation, a Utah Corporation, Salt Lake
County treasurer, Joseph A. Mollerup, McGhie
Land Title Company, a Utah Corporation, Clive M
Maxwell dba C. M. Maxwell Electric Company, and
Herb Towers Murray Plumbing Company, a Utah
Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involved a lien foreclosure action against real property and a claim for wages by the defendant Dugger, dba J & D Enterprises (hereinafter called "Dugger"), against Cox Corporation, the owner of the property, and Paul J. Cox as an individual (hereinafter called "Cox"). The subject

FILED

JUL 2 - 1976

property being located at 1342 South State Street, in the City and County of Salt Lake, State of Utah.

Other defendants claiming liens against said property were also named in said action, as follows:

1. Clive Maxwell, for and in behalf of C. M. Maxwell Electric Company (hereinafter called "Maxwell"), in the amount of \$2,342.00.
2. Herb Towers Murray Plumbing (hereinafter called "Towers"), in the amount of \$3,172.33.

Plaintiff Dugger's lien claim was for \$33,407.93, said sum including both of the foregoing liens.

Service Station Supply (hereinafter called "Station") filed a separate action bearing Civil No. 215255 in the same Court, which was consolidated with this action, but no lien was filed. Service Station Supply's claim of \$678.98 was, however, included in plaintiff Dugger's total lien claim of \$33,407.93.

Defendant Mollerup, the first mortgage holder, as well as defendants Salt Lake County Treasurer and McGhie Land Title Company were all allowed to withdraw from this case after all parties stipulated that their claims were prior to the claims of all of the remaining parties.

Cox filed a Counterclaim in this action against Dugger for physical damages caused to the subject property for \$50,000.00, plus punitive damages in the amount of \$150,000.00.

DISPOSITION OF CASE IN LOWER COURT

The lower court entered a "personal judgment" against Cox and in favor of Dugger, and defendants Towers, Maxwell and Station. The court failed to rule on Cox's Counterclaim.

In addition to the "personal judgment" the lower court further granted Dugger, Towers and Maxwell a lien against the subject property and ordered the lien foreclosed and the subject property sold at Sheriff's Sale.

The lower court refused Dugger's claim for wages.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

On appeal Cox seeks reversal of the lower court's "personal judgment" against Cox and an order declaring the lien against the subject property void and restoring said subject property to Cox.

In the alternative, Cox seeks to have the judgment amount reduced so as to conform to the evidence submitted

at trial and to have the Counterclaim remanded to the lower court for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The subject property was at all times herein mentioned leased by Cox to Dynatek Corp. (hereinafter called "Dynatek"), pursuant to a written lease. Commencing in December, 1971, and continuing on through the 19th day of July, 1972, during all of which time said subject property was leased to Dynatek, Dugger claims that he was the agent of Cox and had authority to act for Cox with regard to the subject property. Dugger claims that pursuant to said authority he performed certain services and arranged for third parties to furnish material and services, and in general organized and managed the repair work being conducted during the aforesaid period at the subject property. Dugger claims compensation for said services as an employee or agent for wages earned during said period of \$1,000.00 per month plus expenses. In addition thereto, Dugger claims that he should be reimbursed for any charges incurred by him which relate to the subject property during said period of time wherein any company, person, partnership, corporation or other entity furnished materials or

labor at the request of Dugger for the subject property. Dugger does not claim any written contract with Cox, but claims the arrangement was oral.

Dugger further claims that Cox failed and refused to compensate him in the amount of \$1,000.00 per month as provided for by the alleged oral agreement and that Cox failed and refused to reimburse him for his expenses incurred with regard to the subject property and that the said Cox failed and refused to reimburse said Dugger for the bills and/or charges incurred by said Dugger in the favor of various third parties, including the other defendants herein, with regard to furnishing services, materials and miscellaneous supplies to the subject property and as a result of said failures Dugger did, on or about the 19th day of July, 1972, cause to be filed against the subject property a mechanics lien in the amount of \$33,407.93, claiming that said amount included all other creditors' claims for services, labor, materials and/or supplies furnished for the benefit of the subject property. Dugger claims wages for six months totalling \$6,000.00, which he claimed at trial were included as part of the lien.

In addition to the lien claimed by Dugger, additional liens were filed against the subject property by

Maxwell for \$3,042.00, the same being filed on or about the 10th day of May, 1972, and Towers for \$3,172.00, said lien being filed on or about the 30th day of June, 1972; both of said liens, however, were included in Duggers total lien.

In addition to the aforesaid claims against the subject property, Station was allowed to join the case and make a claim for judgment against Cox in the amount of \$678.98. Station, however, did not file a lien against the subject property and Dugger did not file a lien in behalf of Station.

In addition to the foregoing Dugger claims that the subject property was substantially improved by his efforts and that to allow Cox to take advantage of said improvements without paying therefor would unjustly enrich Cox.

Cox denies any agency agreement with Dugger, and therefore claims that Dugger has no authority whatsoever to obligate the subject property for Cox, thus making the lien filed by Dugger invalid.

Cox further claims that the lien is invalid for the further reason that it incorrectly described the subject property, that it co-mingled items which cannot

be a subject of a lien with the lien figure, and that the amount of the lien was in excess of the actual debts claimed to be due and owing against said property as shown by Dugger's proof at trial.

Cox claimed damages against Dugger for filing a lien against its property thus encumbering the subject property and resulting in the curtailment of Cox's borrowing power so that it could not continue with its program of development for properties located at 2500 South State Street and properties located at Beck Street, both said properties being owned by Cox. Cox further claims physical damages to property against Dugger. The total damages claimed by Cox is \$51,750.00.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE WILL NOT SUPPORT THE LOWER COURT'S FINDING THAT DUGGER WAS AGENT FOR COX AND SAID COURT ERRED IN SO FINDING.

Agency.

"Agency is ordinarily a relation created by agreement of the parties, and as between the principal and agent, an agency is created and authority is actually conferred very much as a contract is made, to the extent that the creation results from the agreement between the

principal and agent that such a relation shall exist. As between the parties to the relation, there must be a meeting of the minds in establishing the agency, and the consent of both the principal and the agent is necessary to create the agency, . . . the principal must intend that the agent shall act for him, . . . and the intention of the parties must find expression either in words or conduct between them." (Emphasis added)
(3 AmJur 2nd, Sec. 17, P.428)

" . . . and whether an agency has in fact been created is to be determined by the relations of the parties as they exist under their agreement or acts, with the question being ultimately one of intention. The question is to be determined by the fact that one represents and is acting for another, and not by the consideration that it will be inconvenient or unjust if he is not held to be the agent of such other . . ."
(Emphasis added) (3 AmJur 2nd, Sec. 21, P 430-31)

In the instant case Dugger testified that he was neither the agent of Cox nor an employee. (See P. 215, lines 7 thru 11 of transcript)

Don Hall testified that Dugger and witness Curtiss Johnson, the President of Dynatek, the lessee of the subject property, had offices in the building located on the subject property (P.291, lines 7-30), and that Dugger's and Johnson's desks were side-by-side and that Dugger asked Hall to do the work on the subject property for Dugger and Dynatek, not Dugger and Cox. That Hall would not do the work for Cox because of advice from his employer, and Johnson, not Cox, paid for Hall's work. (See Hall's testimony, P.288, lines 3-6)

Consider further the testimony of other witnesses who were creditors of Dugger and/or Dynatek that were called by Dugger to testify for and in his behalf to the effect that none of the said witnesses ever dealt with Cox, nor did they expect him to pay the bill. (See P.27, lines 27-30, P.28, lines 1-30, P.29, lines 16-22) That some of the creditors did not even know Cox nor did they at the time the debt was incurred expect Cox to pay the respective debts due them, but said creditors testified that they expected Dynatek and/or Dugger to pay to the debts incurred, and that Dugger was working for Dynatek. (See P.35, lines 27-30, P.36, lines 3-6) The creditors further testified that Dugger never once told them who owned said property, nor did Dugger ever charge anything which was delivered to said property in the name of Cox. Dugger did, however, on numerous occasions charge items in the name of Dynatek, the owner of the leasehold interest and Dugger also charged items in the name of J & D Enterprises and Jerry Dugger personally. (See P.66, lines 8-11, P.72, lines 6-10, P.80, lines 17-30, P.81, lines 1-3, P.82, lines 19-23, P.83, lines 5-14, P.96, lines 14-25, P.107, lines 9-17, P.112, lines 4-30, P.113, lines 1-8, P.115, lines 2-24, P.118, line 19-23, P.125, lines 4-30, and P.126, line 1.)

Dugger produced no evidence to show that any of the creditors relied upon the testimony regarding agency as related by Turner and Johnson, both interested parties, or that the creditors ever had knowledge of said conversations and neither Johnson nor Turner were creditors. No evidence was introduced by Dugger that any of the creditors relied on the testimony of Woolas A. Macey regarding the relationship between Dugger and Cox, which Cox denied.

It would seem logical that if Dugger was in fact Cox's agent that he would have at least once during all of these transactions charged something in the name of Cox, but he cannot offer one instance in which this happened. Neither did Dugger offer any evidence to show that the alleged agency agreement was to be that of an undisclosed principal or employer nature.

I would further point out that none of these creditors ever dealt with Cox previously by and through Dugger. Neither had the majority of said creditors ever dealt directly with Cox. Therefore, it can hardly be said that Cox had clothed Dugger with ostensible authority to act for Cox Corporation or Paul J. Cox by reason of past actions, thereby creating an agency relationship.

A check introduced into evidence by defendant Cox

from a finance company in the amount of \$10,000 further indicates that Dugger was in fact Johnson's agent, and they were working together to purchase the first mortgage on the subject property from one Mollerup, and in fact Dugger and Johnson were ultimately successful in bringing about a purchase of the first mortgage from Mollerup by one Beesley, and immediately after the same was purchased by Beesley the same was assigned to Zions First National Bank and a foreclosure action was commenced to foreclose Cox's interest out of the property. The court can take judicial notice of said action being filed as Civil No. 215226 in the above entitled district court.

Cox testified that he did in fact authorize certain acts to be done by Dugger, to-wit: moving an old house, which was not located on the subject property but on a lot just north of said subject property, purchase doors for the car wash, and some carpenter work. Cox testified that he did in fact pay Dugger for all of said work performed. The evidence further shows that these three items are the only items which Dugger ever billed Cox for, thus negating the attempted inference by Dugger that he had authority to do other acts for Cox. Dugger failed to produce one shred of written evidence to indicate that from January 1, 1972,

through July 7, 1972, that he had made any demand for payment upon Cox, except for the items just mentioned above. Neither did Dugger, prior to said time, ever furnish Cox with an accounting of the bills against said property and, in fact, no completed accounting was produced at trial, and then Dugger could not testify as to what was owed him. (See P.194, lines 11-17)

POINT II

THE LOWER COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED "A PERSONAL JUDGMENT" AGAINST COX AND IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF ON THE THEORY OF UNJUST ENRICHMENT.

Acting officiously also applies to the claim made by Dugger that Cox was unjustly enriched by reason of the acts of Dugger and the other Plaintiff creditors. In 66 Am. Jur. 2nd, Sec. 5, p. 948, entitled "Restitution and Implied Contracts", wherein the subject of officious acts are discussed, the following is stated:

"A basic principal underlying the rules in regard to restitution ('unjust enrichment') is that a person who officiously confers a benefit upon another is not entitled to restitution therefor. Officiousness means interference in the affairs of others not justified by the circumstances under which the interference takes place. Policy ordinarily requires that a person who has conferred a benefit either by way of giving another services, or by adding to the value of his land, or by paying his debt, or even by transferring property to him should not be permitted to require the other to pay therefor, unless the one conferring the benefit had a valid reason for so doing. Where a person has officiously conferred a benefit upon another, the other is enriched but is not considered to be unjustly enriched. The rule denying restitution to officious persons has the effect of penalizing those who thrust benefits upon others and protecting persons who have had benefits thrust upon them.

One has a right to decline to permit another to perform an act on his account. A party is not liable quasi ex contractu for benefits forced upon him. Where there was no request for what the Plaintiff did, the fact that drawn out negotiations were unsuccessful because the parties

In order for Dugger to collect under a theory of restitution or unjust enrichment for wages or services performed there must have been no agreement in the first instance and here according to Dugger's own testimony, he claims that there was an oral agreement to pay, thus he must be bound by that testimony and cannot claim a right of recover under a theory of restitution, but must rely upon his alleged agency relationship which did not exist. 66 Am. Jur. 2nd, Sec. 11, p. 952, states that:

" . . . the doctrine of unjust enrichment or recovery in quasi contract applies to situations where there is no legal contract but where the person sought to be charged is in possession of money or property which in good conscience and justice he should not retain but should deliver to another, the courts imposing a duty to refund the money or the use value of the property to the person whom in good conscience it ought to belong."

In the instant case all creditors, including Dugger, claimed against Cox that there was a legal and binding contract. Neither does Dugger or any of the other creditors claim or plea that there was not an existing contract, thus under the law applying to unjust enrichment they cannot recover.

did not agree on a price affords no basis for imposing a quasi-contractual liability on the Defendant in such case, the Plaintiff occupies the position of a volunteer."

(Gould v American Water Works Service Co., 52 NJ 226, 245 A2d 14 (citing Restatement, Restitution, Secs. 2, 41, 112)). Mehl v Norton, 201 Minn 203, 275 NW 843, 113 ALR 1055). (Restatement, Restitution, Sec. 2 Comment a; Section 112, Comment a).

In 66 Am. Jur. 2nd, Sec. 23, entitled "Restitution and Implied Contracts", it states as follows:

"Ordinarily the law imposes liability to pay for services rendered by another only when the person for whose benefit they were rendered by requested their rendition. As a general rule, where a person performs labor for another without the latter's request, however beneficial such labor may be, he cannot recover therefor. There is no implied contract to pay for services not requested where the person sought to be charged made no use thereof." (Emphasis added) (See Tilley v Cook County, 103 US 155, 27 L Ed 374.)

"The basic principal that a person who officiously confers a benefit upon another is not entitled to restitution therefor, and the general rule that a person who without mistake, coercion, or request has unconditionally conferred a benefit upon another is not entitled to restitution . . ."

In the instant case there was no evidence offered by Dugger that any of the specific acts performed by him and testified to by him were requested to be done by Cox. In fact, the evidence indicated just the opposite, that Cox objected to the services being performed.

POINT III

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DECLARING DUGGER'S LIEN VALID BECAUSE THE SAME COVERED EXCESS PROPERTY NOT BENEFITED BY THE ALLEGED SERVICES AND MATERIALS FURNISHED BY DUGGER.

The lien filed by Dugger covered property in excess of the property which Dugger claims to have conferred a benefit upon by his alleged services and/or materials which he claims to have furnished. Dugger's Complaint, on its face, states that the lien covered property in excess of that which was intended, and said Complaint prays for permission to amend said lien. Said permission to amend said lien was never granted nor was said lien ever amended. Sec. 38-1-4, UCA (1953), Replacement Volume 4, states the following:

"The liens granted by this chapter shall extend to and cover so much of the land whereon such building structure or improvement shall be made as may be necessary for the continuing convenient use and occupation thereof." (Emphasis added)

Thus Dugger is legally bound by his Complaint and said Complaint having admitted that the lien covered excess property and Dugger having never corrected the same, the lien of Dugger is invalid.

POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE LIENS OF OTHER CREDITORS WERE VALID BECAUSE SAID LIENS WERE NOT FILED PURSUANT TO LAW, AND THE ERRORS IN SAID LIENS FURTHER SUPPORT COX'S CONTENTION THAT NO AGENCY EXISTED BETWEEN COX AND DUGGER AS PER POINT I HEREOF.

Sec. 38-1-7, UCA (1953), Replacement Volume 4, sets forth the requirement and contents of the notice to be filed by the lien claimant and states the following:

" . . . every lien shall set forth . . . the name of the person by whom he was employed or to whom he furnished the material with a statement of the terms, time given and conditions of his contract, specifying the time when the first and last labor was performed or the first and last material was furnished, and also a description of the property to be charged with a lien sufficient for identification which claim must be verified by oath of himself or some other person." (Emphasis added)

In the instant case, the lien of Towers shows that he was contacted by Curtis C. Johnson of Dynatek Enterprises, Inc., the lessee of the property and under a verbal agreement for time and materials made between the said Curtis C. Johnson, Dynatek Enterprises, Inc., on the 9th day of May, 1972, through the 8th day of June, 1972, performed work and Johnson agreed to pay for the same. Said lien further shows that Johnson made payments by check drawn on bank accounts which contained insufficient funds. The lien of Towers is void by reason of the fact that there

was no evidence whatsoever put on by Dugger or Towers showing that there was any agency relationship between Curtis C. Johnson, Dynatek, and Cox, and in order to make Towers' lien valid, Plaintiffs must, according to Eccles Lumber Co. v Martin, 31 U 241, 87 P 713, have made a contract with the owner of the land or his authorized agent in order to successfully initiate a lien against the owner's real property. This lien being made and filed in July of 1972 right at the time that the acts testified by all parties was taking place clearly indicates that Dynatek Enterprises, Inc., and Curtis C. Johnson were operating as lessee out of the subject property, and Dugger was their agent. (See also Ellis v Brisacher, 8 U 108, 29 P 879, which states that if repairs and improvements are put on premises under contract between a contractor and a lessee of said premises, then and in that event any liens filed against said premises shall be against the interests of the leasehold only.) (See also Buehner Block Co. v Glezo, 6 U 2d 226, 310 P2d 517, which indicates that the lessee of real property is an owner within the meaning of the Mechanics Lien statute.)

The lien filed by Maxwell is void also for the reason as stated heretofore herein and as borne out by the facts

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