2001

Jerry Dugger, dba J & D Enterprises v. Paul J. Cox Corporation, Cox Corporation, Salt Lake County Treasurer, Joseph A. Mollerup, McGhie Land Title Company, Clive M. Maxwell, Herb Towers Murray Plumbing Company: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Respondent was not required to amend his lien for any additional items he may have claimed fell within the lien. Respondent did not present any testimony regarding any additional items other than those originally claimed within the lien. Respondent did not amend his lien as to any

additional items. Respondent was not bound as a matter of law to do so in order to prevail against the Appellant.

Appellant misstates the pleadings when he asserts Respondent's Complaint states on its face that the lien covered property in excess of that which was intended. The complaint does allege that there "has been some other items completed by the Plaintiff herein in addition to those filed in the lien against the premises as heretofore described." These items could have been amended into the lien, but were not, and no evidence was ever taken as to those items.

POINT IV

THE LIENS OF OTHER JUDGMENT CREDITORS ARE VALID AND THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THEY WERE FILED PURSUANT TO LAW

As has been pointed out above, the parties stipulated prior to trial that the liens of Dugger, Maxwell and Towers were proper in all respects and had been validly and timely filed, and they were thus admitted into evidence by the court. (P. 8, lines 15-30), (P. 9, lines 1-25), (P. 10, lines 2-4). The only reservations made by Cox's counsel were whether or not the liens would attach to Cox's interest in the State Street Property. Cox's counsel also reserved the right to dispute whether or not Cox and Dugger had entered into an oral contract. Thus by his stipulation, Cox is estopped to deny that said liens were valid.

The court found as a matter of fact that Dugger did improve the State Street Property at the instance and request of Cox, and that Dugger had hired Maxwell and Towers as subcontractors.

As to the Tower's lien, the lien on its face shows that it was filed against Cox Corporation pursuant to a request with Dynatek. Curtis Johnson of Dynatek testified that he had an agreement with Cox that Cox would pay for additional work, (P. 134, lines 17-25), including plumbing. There was thus sufficient testimony for the lower court to

have found that Towers did work at the instance of Cox through Johnson. As discussed above, the lien would then be valid against Cox's interest in the State Street Property.

As to the Maxwell lien, there is testimony from Dugger that he requested Maxwell to furnish materials and labor at Cox's instance and request. (P 186, lines 3-11). Since Maxwell was Dugger's subcontractor, the lien does not fail, since Maxwell's work was done at the instance and request of Cox's agent, contractor or other person acting for Cox.

As to Maxwell's listing of Dynatek as well as Dugger as the person with whom the contract was made to supply the materials and labor, it is clear that Cox agreed to have Johnson supply labor and materials for which Cox would be responsible. The same argument applies to Maxwell as it does to Towers in this regard.

The liens of Towers and Maxwell must be sustained since the trier of fact found the labor and material was performed at the instance and request of Cox either through Dugger or through Johnson, and the testimony supports this finding.

POINT V

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES TO
DUGGER AND TOWERS

Section 38-1-18, Utah Code Annotated specifically
provides:

"In any action brought to enforce
any lien under this chapter the
successful party shall be entitled
to recover a reasonable attorney's
fee, to be fixed by the court, which
shall be taxed as costs in the action."
(Emphasis mine.)

On the Dugger claim for attorney fees, Dugger testified
that he had been required to obtain the services of an attorney
to foreclose his lien, and that \$3,000.00 was a reasonable sum
for his counsel's services. (P. 192, lines 8-14).

On the Towers claim for attorney fees, McGregor, Tower's
agent, testified that Towers had contracted to pay a
reasonable attorney's fee in the matter, and that \$800.00
was a reasonable fee. (P. 37, lines 24-28).

For the court to determine whether attorney fees are
reasonable the use of expert witnesses is not required.
Wildes v. Dappinian, 87 RI 131, 138 A. 2nd 823. An attorney
who performed the services, or another expert on attorney fees,
or another witness, or even the plaintiff himself may testify
regarding the reasonableness of attorney fees and the amount
thereof. 7 Am Jur 2nd, Attorneys at Law, §268, page 197.

The court is not required to look solely to the testimony

regarding the reasonableness of attorney fees; it may take into consideration the pleadings and other filings in the case, the time spent by the attorneys at trial, attending circumstances, and its own knowledge and experience regarding the character of such services in awarding attorney fees.

7 Am Jur 2nd, Attorneys at Law, §269, page 197.

Even if no testimony were taken regarding attorney fees, or the reasonableness thereof, the court is required to determine and tax as costs the attorney fees to be awarded the successful party under the statute cited above.

There is no question under Utah law that the foreclosure of a mechanic's lien under Section 38-1-18, Utah Code Annotated is an equitable proceeding. The Utah Supreme Court has held that it is the prerogative of the trial judge to determine disputed questions of fact in equity matters, and that the trier of fact's duty with respect to determining attorney fees or other factual matters is only advisory to the court's determination thereof. Frehner v. Morton, 18 U 2nd 422, 424 P 2nd 446. Hence, in the instant case the court was not required to take testimony regarding attorney fees, and if it did so, such testimony was only advisory to the court's discretion in the determination of attorney fees to be awarded the successful party.

POINT VI

DUGGER'S LIEN WAS NOT EXCESSIVE AND THE COURT DID NOT
ERR IN DECLARING THE LIEN VALID

Dugger's lien was filed July 19, 1972 for the sum of \$33,407.93. Pursuant to the testimony, and the appendix annexed hereto, the lien was not excessive. The fact that the court chose not to award the entire amount claimed due under the lien does not make the lien any less valid.

Shupe v. Menlove, 18 U 2nd 422, 424 P 2nd 446. (1966)

Counsel for Cox in his argument before the court brashly states, without any supporting evidence whatever in the record, that Dugger without cause or justification liened other properties of the Cox Corporation, which shows that Dugger was attempting to procure an advantage or benefit, prohibited by statute. There were no pleadings, no evidence, and no reason whatever to make such an extraneous argument. Such an argument does not even belong in this appeal, and there is not even a record upon which Respondent can respond.

In fact Dugger was successful in asserting his lien claim against Cox in the present action. If Dugger were successful, then he could not be found to be taking advantage of the Appellant by reason of asserting a fallacious lien.

POINT VII

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT DUGGER CO-MINGLED NONLIENABLE ITEMS
IN HIS LIEN CLAIM

Inasmuch as the court found that Dugger had supplied material and labor, or caused them to be supplied to the State Street Property at the instance and request of Cox, Dugger cannot be deemed to have been a mere volunteer with regard thereto.

The Appellant raises the issue of whether or not Dugger could assert a lien for labor and materials supplied by subcontractors or materialmen. The cases hold that one in Dugger's position may file a lien in behalf of his subcontractors and materialmen especially where Dugger is personally liable for the debt.

In §91, C.J.S., Mechanic's Liens, page 604, we find:

"It is generally held that a contractor is entitled to a lien for labor furnished by him and actually performed by persons working under him; even though his workmen have taken out liens, the effect is only to diminish that lien pro tanto." (See Idaho Riggen v. Perkins, 246 P 62, 42 Ida 391).

In Parker V. Tilghman v. Morgan Inc., 183 A 224, 170 Md 7, and in Rice v. Baxter, 15 Pa. 198, 40 C.J. 140, note 14, the court held that a subcontractor could file a lien even though the contractor had previously filed a lien on the entire contract. By inverse reasoning, Dugger had a right to file a lien on the entire amount due even though other creditors subsequently filed

liens for the amounts due to them. The effect would be to reduce Dugger's lien pro tanto. Isbell v. Payne, 147 P 2nd 718, 158 Kan 298.

In Re Lightner (DC Cal), 184 F Supp 825, the court stated:

"We can see no reason for allowing a corporation to claim a lien for the labor of its servants, and denying the right to an independent contractor who does the work through those servants. Holding as we do on this point, it becomes immaterial whether this claimant was or was not an independent contractor."

All of the testimony taken was with regard to items which Dugger claimed were part of the lien. The court chose to disallow the claim for Dugger's services for \$1,000.00 per month. Dugger argued that those services for superintending were properly includable within the lien. In C.J.S., Mechanic's Liens, §37, we find: "In many jurisdictions a mechanic's lien may be acquired for services in superintending construction of a building or improvement." And in the absence of a special contract fixing the value of the services, a reasonable value is to be placed thereon by the trier of fact. Sierra Nevada Lumber Co. v. Whitmore, 24 U 130, 66 P. 779.

Dugger testified that all of the items referred to in the appendix were used in connection with the State Street property. Except for some items shipped by Amcor to Ogden and Richfield, all expenses incurred were for

labor and materials or for procuring labor and materials to improve the structures on the South State Street Property. These were never challenged by the Appellant. There is no evidence whatever in the record that any items whatever were purchased for resale, and which were shipped to Dynatek and sold by Dynatek.

Dugger claimed that he went to California for the purpose of obtaining materials to be used in the State Street Property improvements. (P. 180, lines 4-5). He incurred motel and travel expenses, and certainly it cannot be argued that these expenses become a part of the cost of the materials supplied in the project. They most certainly are then lienable. The bill to Dunn Oil for \$197.34 was for the hoist. This certainly became a part of the building. (P.177, lines 25-26). There was testimony that some of the Amcor blocks went to Richfield and some went to Ogden, but these were not included in the final tabulation of amounts owing under the lien. The only sum requested for blocks under the lien was \$171.13. There was no testimony in the record that the only blocks used were those salvaged from the North building. There was further no testimony whatever that the amount of pipe purchased was note totally used on the State Street Property. And Don Hall testified that he was looking to Jerry Dugger for payment of \$2,400.00 for work he performed

on the State Street Property. (P. 296, lines 19-21), (P. 296, lines 27-28), (P.297, line 19). Hall did not need to give Dugger any authority whatever for Dugger to claim this item within his lien. Dugger had incurred the Hall charge for work which Hall did as a subcontractor at the request of Dugger on the State Street Property. As to the house moving, the Court apparently believed Dugger's testimony that the house was moved as a part of the improvement of the subject property, and awarded judgment accordingly for \$1,200.00.

It is clear that the court found that all of the items which Dugger claimed was due him were in fact lienable items, and there was sufficient testimony and evidence in the record to substantiate such a finding. The court cannot now overturn such a finding, unless it finds the court abused its discretion in reaching such a finding with regard to the facts.

POINT VIII

THE COURT DID RULE WITH REGARD TO THE COX COUNTERCLAIM,
AND THE RULES PROVIDE FOR THE PROPER PROCEDURE TO CURE
THE RECORD ON APPEAL

While the Record does not disclose the ruling made by the lower court with regard to its ruling on Appellant's Counterclaim, the lower court nevertheless did rule on the Counterclaim when it heard Appellant's Motion to Redeem on July 27, 1976. The Court then ruled that it had intended at the time it issued its Memorandum Decision to hold that Plaintiff should be awarded judgment for "No Cause of Action" on Defendant's Counterclaim. Both Counsel for Dugger and Cox were present at the time the Court clarified its Memorandum Decision.

In the instance where the lower court had intended to rule with regard to a claim, but failed to specifically reflect its ruling on the record, the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provide for an appropriate remedy without requiring the entire Counterclaim to be retried, or remanded for further hearing. In Rule 75(h), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, we find:

"...if anything material to either party is omitted from the record on appeal by error or accident or is misstated therein, the parties by stipulation, or the district court, either before or after the record is transmitted to the Supreme Court, or the Supreme Court, on proper suggestion or of its own initiative, may direct that the omission or misstatement shall be corrected, and if necessary that a supplemental record shall be certified and transmitted by the clerk..."

It would be illogical to think that the lower court could have ruled in any other manner, since Appellant's claim was based upon the theory that Respondent's lien was illegal and unjustified, and that the Appellant thereby suffered damages. The lower court found, however, that Respondent's claim was in fact justified.

Inasmuch as the lower court has ruled on the Cox Counterclaim, but such ruling is not reflected in the record on appeal, the Supreme Court should direct that the transcript be corrected to reflect the lower court ruling, and the Court should direct the clerk of the district court to correct the record on appeal accordingly.

POINT IX

THE QUESTION OF WHETHER THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT AWARDED A PERSONAL JUDGMENT AND A JUDGMENT ON THE LIEN AT THE SAME TIME IS MOOT, AND THUS NOT GROUNDS FOR REVERSAL

On November 10, 1975 the lower court entered its amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and Judgement in the above matter, effective, pursuant to court order, November 24, 1975, and Respondent immediately had an Order of Sale on the South State Street Property issued together with a Praecipe to the Sheriff of Salt Lake County, dated November 26, 1975. Thereafter, the property was listed for sale, and the Sheriff's sale took place December 30, 1975, wherein the Respondent offered \$6,500.00 of his judgment lien for the subject property. On or about January 6, 1976 the Clerk of Salt Lake County, Utah issued a deficiency judgment against the Appellant in the sum of \$27,911.28. Said deficiency judgment was in the nature of a personal judgment against Cox. Thereafter executions on the deficiency judgment were issued and transcripts of the judgment were filed in various counties in Utah where the Appellant is known to own real property.

The State Street Property has subsequently been redeemed by the Appellant by a certificate of redemption issued by the Respondent's counsel on August 2, 1976 certifying that \$6,500.00 of the judgment is deemed satisfied.

The question of whether or not there should have been only one lien judgment, rather than both a lien judgment and a personal judgment is now moot, inasmuch as all that now remains is a personal deficiency judgment. Certainly the Appellant could not have been harmed by the Personal Judgment and the Lien Judgment, since Respondent immediately took steps to levy against the judgment lien and to obtain as quickly thereafter a personal judgment for the deficiency not satisfied by the sale of the State Street Property. Where the Appellant is not prejudiced or harmed by such a judgment, error will not be grounds for reversal. Yazoo & M. Valley R. Co. v. Mullins, 249 US 531, 63 L ed 754, 39 S Ct 368. If the prejudicial effect is cured, then the court would not reverse such judgment. Weskalnies v. Hesterman, 288 Ill 199, 123 NE 314, 4 ALR 128.

When a question is presented on appeal which has been rendered moot, the reviewing court will generally not review the question. Sartin v. Barlow, 196 Miss 159, 16 So 2nd 372. The appeal was dismissed in this case because the court felt the resolution of the question on appeal would render no useful purpose since the question had become moot or academic. See also Coburn v. Thornton, 30 Ida 347, 164 P. 1012. Review also 5 Am Jur 2nd, Appeal and Error, §913, page 345.